PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

THURSDAY 19 JANUARY 2023

Present: Councillors Sayonara Luxton (Chairman), Maureen Hunt (Vice-Chairman), Clive Baskerville, Catherine Del Campo, Carole Da Costa, Neil Knowles, Julian Sharpe, John Story and Amy Tisi

Also in attendance virtually: Councillor Gerry Clark

Officers: Becky Oates, Kevin McDaniel, Lynne Lidster and Lin Ferguson

Officers in attendance virtually: David Birch, Carl Griffin and Tracy Hendren

Apologies for absence

Apologies were received from co-optees Mark Jervis and Tony Wilson. Councillor Clark attended the meeting virtually as a non-voting member of the Panel.

Declarations of Interest

No declarations of interest were received.

<u>Minutes</u>

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2022 be a true and accurate record.

Draft Budget 2023/24

Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of People Services, gave a presentation to the Panel on the proposals for People Services within the current draft budget.

Adult Services had a proposed growth bid of £3.816m and targeted savings of £4.899m. This would be achieved through a focus on independent living for all and looking to discharge home first. The service would look at reviewing its use of agency and other staffing, while looking at the longer-term impact of working collaboratively with Health.

Housing and Environmental Services were looking at a growth bid of £0.120m and savings of £0.853m. This would be achieved through combining skills across housing, licensing, environmental health and trading standards teams to maintain a full service offer. The service recognised the loss of income on Hackney Carriage Licenses and the increased pressure on housing and temporary accommodation while looking at how to use property in a smarter way across the entire Council portfolio.

Children's Services had a proposed growth bid of £2.992m and targeted savings of £3.571m. Fundamentally, the service looked to continue good progress on ensuring that children weren't brought into care when they didn't need to be. More was needed to replace the case management system (CMS) in order to increase efficiency. In the short term, the scale of the family hubs would be reduced.

The proposals for the Capital Review Board were to continue to support the fully funded scheme using as much as money from developer contributions in the form of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and s106 payments as much as possible and as appropriate. A focus would be kept on capital programmes that were affordable. Within the programme were two

significant IT investments in replacing the CMS for both Adult's and Children's Service as significant drivers of long-term improvements in the way the borough worked with families and became more efficient over time.

Kevin McDaniel highlighted the key dates for the budget. The consultation portal was open until the 24 January 2023 and was available on the RBWM Together website. After the consultation ended, Cabinet would consider this feedback and propose their final budget on 9 February 2023, which would then go to Full Council for approval on 22 February 2023.

The Vice-Chair asked how schools were faring as concerns had been raised at the Schools Forum meeting on 19 January 2023 about government funding being reduced, and asked if this would impact on the draft budget.

Kevin McDaniel confirmed that the schools' budget did not impact the budget being discussed currently. There was a separate ringfenced budget for education of £151m in the coming year for RBWM. Schools were rightly concerned that the budget had not increased with the level of pay offer that was under discussion, but there were very few lines that crossed over between the two budgets.

Councillor Knowles asked if the pay rises overall for staff was a generalised 3%.

Kevin McDaniel stated that a flat percentage of the pay pot had been modelled, which is where this figure had come from

Councillor Baskerville asked why there had been a loss of income on Hackney Carriage Licenses.

Tracy Hendren, Head of Housing, Environmental Health, and Trading Standards, confirmed that one of the main factors was that during Covid, many taxi drivers had to find alternative jobs as the taxi service was not running in the way it used to. As things returned to normal, many taxi drivers did not return to the trade.

The Vice-Chair asked if the domiciliary care contract had an impact on the budget.

Lynne Lidster stated that looking at the cost pressures in the current budget, most of these were on residential and nursing placements, which meant that there wasn't currently pressure on the domiciliary care budget. At the beginning of the year, the department were looking at a £1.1m overspend which hadn't materialised, which was good news. A good response from providers was evidenced, with there currently being around 12 providers up from an original 7. There was a decreasing number of people placed outside those providers decrease over time, demonstrating that the contract was working well despite pressures in the workforce and communities.

Councillor Carole Da Costa asked if pressures on the budget were being felt from different geographical areas of the borough.

Lynne Lidster stated that there was a fixed rate of £19.40 across the borough which was brought in from 1 August 2022. There was no particular difficulty felt in areas such as Ascot. It was more difficult to find workforce in certain parts of the borough, with Ascot traditionally being one such area, but capacity was being achieved across the borough.

As of 23 January 2023, a provider would be starting to work on the hospital discharge programme on a 370-hour contract which would support people coming out of hospital and aim to get those people mobilised within 5-6 weeks.

Councillor Sharpe stated that this sounded like really good news as the system seemed to be working as it was intended to work. If residents were able to be moved out of the hospital and into a care system, it was good for the borough and good for the NHS.

Councillor Hunt added that this was thanks to the hard work of officers.

Councillor Knowles commented that one ongoing problem was that many residents didn't have anywhere to go after leaving hospital, and this would require a long-term solution.

Kevin McDaniel added that there was a national agenda around getting people out of hospital so that they could treat those who absolutely needed urgent care. The domiciliary care contract was part of an investment in the RBWM area between the borough and the NHS. This would enable the flow out of hospitals. It was not a case of people being taken directly from hospital to a care home but trying to take people back to their own homes with the support that was needed in order to live their lives independently for as long as possible.

Councillor Carole Da Costa commented that taking people from hospital to recover into a care home was the most disabling thing that the borough could do. The period of support within the home to enable people to get back to their pre-hospital selves would be very important in order to assess longer term needs.

Councillor Tisi stated that the budget item that concerned her the most was the removal of non-statutory Family Hub services, given that this would be an 80% reduction in Family Hub services. Councillor Tisi asked what the long-term impact on families and the demand for statutory services would be if this early help offer was removed.

Lin Ferguson, Director of Children's Services – AfC, stated that the current proposals would mean a significant reduction in Family Hub services, primarily staffing. This impact would mean that Family Hubs couldn't deliver the breadth and volume of services currently delivered. Research showed that the earlier that Family Hubs were able to intervene, the more likely this could prevent families needing statutory services and additional support. Early help was a valuable resource which kept the majority of families in this service from needing statutory support.

Councillor Tisi asked how the percentage of children receiving statutory support within RBWM compared to neighbouring authorities.

Lin Ferguson stated that statistically, children in care were measured per 10,000 of the child population. RBWM were statistically lower than the national average and those of local authorities for children in care. Research suggested that if a borough had a robust early help service, it was likely to have fewer children in care, but it was difficult to establish cause and effect.

Councillor Tisi asked about the financial implications for the authority if the number of children in care increased.

Kevin McDaniel stated that if a child came in to the care of the borough, their life chances were significantly reduced compared to others. If the child was in the care of their family, extended family and/or with a local fostering family, this care would cost around £50,000 a year for the council. If the child was placed externally, this cost could easily reach £150,000 a year. The number of children currently in care was very low, and whether this number would increase was difficult to determine.

Councillor Tisi stated that in the framework for Ofsted evaluations of local authorities, a local authority would be likely to be 'good' if it included early help. Councillor Tisi asked what the perceived risk to the authority's 'good' rating would be if this part of the criteria could not be fulfilled.

Lin Ferguson stated that if these savings were to be realised, it could have an impact on regulatory outcomes. Although it was hard to say for certain and could not be predicted, it could have the potential of the authority not being able to retain its 'good' rating.

Councillor Sharpe commented that it was important to realise that the authority did not want to make cuts to the budget, but it had been put into a position where these cuts were necessary. It was a question of how resources could be used most effectively to deal with the problems

which the borough faced, and how the budget could be used in such a way as to prevent these things happening. Research showed that preventative measures were a good way of keeping costs down but more importantly, it was the best way to look after people who were in need of help. Councillor Sharpe asked officers to paint a picture of what the services would look like if these proposed cuts went ahead, in order to understand the real impact on the level of service.

Kevin McDaniel stated that if the draft budget passed in its current form, those in the most critical need would still get the support that was needed. The risk with this budget was those who currently engaged with early help at the earliest stages may not find the support that was needed and may find that their issues escalated to the point where they would be in a worse position before engaging with services.

Councillor Sharpe asked if any work was being undertaken to deliver alternative services that would support the community, such as remotely delivered mental health support.

Kevin McDaniel stated that this was a professional job, with families expecting to be able to get a service which takes money. A lot of work had gone into making family hubs as efficient as possible. This saving was the least worst thing for the borough to do, though it was not being recommended as a good thing to do.

Lin Ferguson added that these cuts would mean relying on other services within the borough in order to support families with this being achieved through signposting.

Councillor Sharpe stated that it was important that all services were as joined up as possible with regards to every family to ensure that services were delivered in the most integrated way.

Lin Ferguson stated that Achieving for Children would continue to scrutinise their own budget to ensure that the money available was going to the right place.

Councillor Del Campo said that with regards to reablement, she supported the idea of helping people stay in their homes for as long as it was appropriate and safe, and emphasised the role of signposting. Councillor Del Campo asked how this would be monitored to ensure that people who were still in their homes were not just surviving but were also thriving.

Kevin McDaniel stated that Councillor Del Campo was right to recognise that signposting was something that the borough could do better at, as the earlier people understood they can help themselves, the better the outcome for residents. With regards to reablement, the service had been improving and developing with reablement occurring for a particular group of adults.

David Birch, Chief Executive of Optalis, added that over the last year, Optalis had been revamping the service to maximise capacity and productivity in order to access as many people who need that service as possible. An external review had been commissioned which indicated a number of areas where capacity could be increased. Some non-reablement services had been stopped to ensure that specialists were dedicated to working in the area they were specialising in. The Home First initiative would help to free up additional capacity as it meant that the assessment phase was being carried out by a multi-disciplinary team rather than just the reablement team. Additionally, a significant recruitment campaign was ongoing to increase the size of the team by 15-20 people over the next year.

David Birch stated that Councillor Del Campo's point about finding people who were struggling was well made. The challenge was how to identify people who were struggling but not wanting to bother anybody. Discussions were ongoing with health colleagues and community groups in order to identify these people in a non-intrusive way to provide them with the support they need.

Councillor Del Campo stated that when care home resident savings fell below a certain threshold, the borough stepped in and paid an appropriate amount for their care. Councillor

Del Campo asked for clarity on the base budget figure and what percentage of this figure had come about through a deprivation of assets scenario.

Kevin McDaniel responded that there were many care home beds within the borough that people chose to put themselves into and paid for, rather than being put into the state-funded places. There was a significant price differential in the beds that were paid for, with these differences sometimes being as much as a ± 1000 per week.

In the cases where somebody had run out of money to pay for their care, the borough would step in to make sure that they had care, but it would still be the good quality care at the same amount of money that was paid for those who didn't have the wherewithal to pay for their own care. This saving covered individuals who may have been in care for a short term and had run out of money, in which a sensible conversation would be needed. If a third party, normally the family, were not able to pay, then the borough's policy was to ask people to move when it was safe to do so.

Lynne Lidster stated that the borough used to see under 10 people per year who would run out of money. However, this position had changed quite dramatically with this number almost doubling and more and more people running out of money. Lynne Lidster stated that this may have been a result of the pandemic, which resulted in people going into care homes far earlier than they normally would have. It was hoped that these high numbers would start to come down, but the number of people running out of money was significant.

In these cases, the first thing would be to negotiate with the provider where the person is currently residing. Every step would be taken to keep people where they were, but in instances where the provider was unwilling to negotiate, the family were unable or unwilling to top-up costs, and it was safe to do so, the individual would be moved to a different location which was more affordable for the authority. In these instances, a personal budget would be set which could meet the individual's needs, which would enable the person to choose where they would go.

Councillor Del Campo asked about if deprivation of assets was a particular issue for the borough and if so, what the scale of the issue might be.

Lynne Lidster stated that that she didn't have an idea on the possible scale but added that it was very hard to prove that someone had either been deprived or had deprived themselves of their assets. Reasonable assumptions and investigations were made to try and detect any self-deprivation, but it did occur. In instances where a third party had deprived somebody of their assets, this was a safeguarding issue which would be dealt with and potentially referred to the police. It was more difficult to see if people were depriving themselves of their own assets.

Councillor Del Campo stated that she was concerned about the cuts to Meals on Wheels, and asked officers to describe the value that this service provided.

Lynne Lidster stated that some of the people who received Meals on Wheels were reluctant to have formal care. The company used were specially trained to work with people, look at what was in people's homes, complete risk assessments and so forth. Meals on Wheels was a means of keeping an eye on somebody who was reluctant to enter the formal care system, and may result in that individual being more likely to eventually accept support. It was a valuable service, especially for those people who were at risk and were vulnerable.

Councillor Del Campo asked if Meals on Wheels could potentially help people who might otherwise fall through the gaps.

Lynne Lidster stated that the other side of the coin was that people would only ever pay their assessed charges. For instance, if an individual had an assessed charge of \pounds 50 per week and received services of \pounds 200 per week, they would still only pay the initial assessment of \pounds 50.

Kevin McDaniel confirmed that for the final budget he was proposing that this saving be made in a different way, with an increase in the meal price but still making the service available.

Councillor Del Campo asked the Chair if she could propose a recommendation to Cabinet now, or if this was better suited to the end of the debate.

The Chair confirmed that it would be better to propose any motions at the end of the debate.

Councillor Carole Da Costa stated that she came from a medical background, and every service would look to intervene as early as possible to make longer term savings and better outcomes for individuals. She stated that she couldn't support a budget that would look at removing those early help interventions, particularly when looking at CAMHS waiting lists of almost two years. One of the justifications for family hubs was that support could be put into place while people were waiting to see some kind of counselling. Councillor Carole Da Costa added that to take away the early intervention would be doing a disservice to the Council and its young people.

Councillor Carole Da Costa suggested looking again at this savings line and trying to reserve as much of the non-statutory Family Hub service as possible, as well as looking at ways to recruit and retain good quality staff so as to decrease reliance on agency services.

Councillor Knowles stated that he was involved as a trustee of two alms houses and had a vested interest, referring to savings lines AHH01S and AHH021S. During the pandemic, he was involved in supporting older residents through this period. Councillor Knowles knew how passionate most people were about independence and staying in the own homes, so the drive towards increased reablement was something that should be supported.

Councillor Knowles stated that the shared lives scheme in budget line AHH03S was quite brilliant, and asked if there had been any trials of this in the UK as it was often the norm for older people to remain with their families in other countries such as Germany. Councillor Knowles also asked how this would be managed, as it was a complex method that may pose safeguarding risks.

Lynne Lidster said that shared lives in the UK was primarily for people with learning disabilities, so was tried and trusted. The scheme was regulated through the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and would involve the borough partnering with another local authority to deliver this scheme. The scheme was originally launched in the borough around 7/8 years ago but wasn't successful, so the aim was to try again.

In terms of the personal care aspects, it would be the same as individuals living in their own home. The scheme was not registered for personal care so if the individual needed personal care, an agency registered to deliver this kind of care would come in to provide it. With regards to safeguarding, checks were carried out on the family and the individuals living in the home in the same way that Children's Services would do for foster carers.

Councillor Knowles asked if the level of safeguarding was the same as that required in care homes.

Lynne Lidster confirmed that this was the case.

Councillor Knowles stated that he knew many senior friends who were recipients of Meals on Wheels, and a reduction in this service would mean a reduction in mobility and support. Councillor Knowles's main worry was that he was concerned about an overall reduction in a level of staffing and what this would mean if gaps were needed to be filled by agency staff. Councillor Knowles stated that the People Service was very important as this related to people's lives, and if there was any slack in the original grant, it should be directed into these services as a priority.

Kevin McDaniel stated that he agreed with Councillor Knowles's statement but would reflect on other services of the Council which were equally as important. Many services were also becoming leaner in terms of staffing, but this was the nature of the budget.

Councillor Sharpe asked for clarification that the recommendations proposed in the draft budget would result in the savings stated in the papers. If these recommendations went through, Councillor Sharpe asked about the number of people who would be made redundant and if there was the option for redeployment off these affected staff.

Kevin McDaniel explained that at this stage of the budget proposals, none of the processes that would be necessary had begun. In all areas, the borough had looked to minimise the number of redundancies of permanent employees of the council or its partner companies. Within the borough, there was a very clear set of policies around reskilling and reasonable alternatives that wherever this option was possible it would be carried out. However, within People Services, there was a significant amount of training and development that would be required to move an individual from a non-specialist professional position to some of the more specialised roles.

The Vice-Chair asked for clarification on the need for, and cost of, a new CMS.

Kevin McDaniel explained that at present, a shared system (PARIS) was used by both Adults and Children's Services which provided the electronic record keeping of all interactions, particularly the statutory interactions with adults and children. This CMS enabled these services to ensure that they were effectively able to provide the right services and demonstrate the progress over time. In many cases, this CMS provided statutory data returns to the government and demonstrate through external reviewers that services provided were good quality.

The CMS was last purchased around 12 years go, and the borough was one of three councils left using the system, and the supplier had stated that they would no longer be updating and developing the software. Therefore, two new CMS would be required with one for Adult's and one for Children's. The cost indicated was how much it would take to complete a migration of the computer system so would be a one-off cost, however the borough did pay a couple of hundred thousand pounds a year to run these tools and systems.

The Vice-Chair asked if the cost of providing care for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children would decrease next year.

Lin Ferguson stated that the National Transfer Scheme (NTS) had become mandatory at the beginning of 2022. During 2022, the NTS increased the quota of the number of unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people from 0.07% to 0.1% [of the 0-18 age population]. For a small borough, this meant taking on significantly more young people. Information indicated that not all south-east authorities were at the same quota. A decision had been made that at the current time, unless the borough had the capacity to safely support and care for any additional young people, they would not be taking any further young people through the NTS. Therefore, it was expected that these costs would go down. The young people received through the scheme were offered support and care in the same way as any other young person would, and it was important to highlight that these young people arrived with very significant needs due to trauma and required additional support.

Lin Ferguson explained that there were currently two hotels in the borough for asylum seekers, and if any young asylum seekers presented themselves outside the NTS, the borough had a responsibility to support these people and the borough would do so as it would with any other young person.

Kevin McDaniel added that one of the issues was that these young people arrived with no additional resources over and above the base budget for any council. Councils were provided with around £1000 per week to cover the cost of accommodation for these young people, but this did not provide support for the cost of their care. The borough had continually spoken with

the Home Office, who had responsibility for this group, to explain that if the resources provided were increased then the number of young people that the borough took on could be increased.

Kevin McDaniel noted that as of 1 February 2023, the Home Officer were paying a one-off \pounds 15,000 per young person who was taken in as an incentive, in addition to this \pounds 1000 per week that was also provided. The borough was at capacity so would not be taking any more young people, but it may serve as an incentive to boroughs which did have the capacity but lacked the resources.

The Vice-Chair asked why the figure indicated in budget line AHH19S, review policies for access to care, was so high.

Kevin McDaniel explained that the first few lines in Table 4 added up to well over £3m. This was some of the people who had gone into care earlier than they needed to, and this was the figure that would need to be spent if this continued. The policy review was a saving the borough hoped to achieve by placing people into the right locations.

The Vice-Chair asked for an explanation on budget line CHI01S.

Kevin McDaniel and Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance, confirmed that this would be responded to outside of the meeting.

ACTION: Written response to the Vice-Chair's question to be provided.

Councillor Tisi asked if the borough were aware of the strains and stresses that were being put on agencies and the voluntary sector, and whether anything could be done to help.

Kevin McDaniel stated that, anecdotally, he had heard that in the voluntary sector, for the right bid there was quite a lot of money out there, with quite a lot of benefactors willing to support families and young people in particular. Work on the borough's side in order to improve signposting and join organisations up could be improved.

Councillor Tisi explained that she had submitted questions ahead of the original Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Panel's session on the budget, to which she had received detailed replies. Councillor Tisi stated that she would be happy to send the answers to her written responses to panel members.

ACTION: Councillor Tisi to send Panel members answers to her written questions.

Councillor Tisi proposed a motion that Cabinet uses £500,000 funding from the additional budget settlement to remove the amount of savings required of the non-statutory Family Hub services (savings ref. CHI20S) and create a new growth bid of £20k for the Family Hubs to ameliorate increasing demand on the service. This motion was seconded by Councillor Carole Da Costa.

A named vote was taken.

To recommend that Cabinet use funding from the additional budget settlement to remove the amount of savings required of the non-statutory Family Hub services (savings ref. CHI20S) and create a new growth bid of £20,000 for the Family Hubs to ameliorate increasing demand on the service (Motion)

Councillor Sayonara Luxton	Abstain
Councillor Maureen Hunt	Abstain
Councillor Clive Baskerville	For
Councillor Catherine del Campo	For
Councillor Carole Da Costa	For
Councillor Neil Knowles	For
Councillor Julian Sharpe	For
Councillor John Story	Abstain
Councillor Amy Tisi	For
Carried	

The result was 6 votes in favour and 3 abstentions, therefore the motion passed.

Councillor Baskerville stated that he was glad to see that the borough recognised that by maintaining lower levels of council tax, it was missing out on additional revenue.

Andrew Vallance explained that it was the Council's policy to cut council tax for several years in the early 2010s. If it had taken the full increase every year that was allowed under that scheme, there would be an extra £30m in the budget.

Councillor Story asked if the £500,000 figure for unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children was part of the total £1m figure that was given for the total cost of all asylum seekers, and if the other £500,000 was for adults.

Kevin McDaniel stated that much of the expense came to Children's Services, but AfC had responded during the year with increased efficiencies to the structure. The total cost was £1m, but some of this was a cost that would have been necessary. Most of the costs associated with asylum seekers related to hotel costs.

Councillor Story asked for clarification on the process for the budget moving forward.

Andrew Vallance explained that the administration would put forward a revised budget, which was currently being prepared and would be published on 1 February 2023 as part of the Cabinet agenda. This budget would incorporate what the administration wished to do with the extra £3.6m worth of funding. The results of the consultation, which ended on 24 January 2023, would also be considered at Cabinet alongside any recommendations from all three Overview & Scrutiny Panels.

Cabinet would then vote to recommend a final budget to Full Council in February, at which the budget would be debated by all political groups and any amendments to the budget could be proposed.

Councillor Del Campo emphasised the importance of Meals on Wheels in terms of safeguarding and supporting residents.

Councillor Del Campo proposed a motion to strike savings line item AHH22S from the budget. Councillor Tisi seconded this motion.

A named vote was taken.

To recommend that Cabinet strike savings line item AHH22S from the budget. (Motion)		
Councillor Sayonara Luxton	For	
Councillor Maureen Hunt	For	
Councillor Clive Baskerville	For	
Councillor Catherine del Campo	For	
Councillor Carole Da Costa	For	
Councillor Neil Knowles	For	
Councillor Julian Sharpe	For	
Councillor John Story	Abstain	
Councillor Amy Tisi	For	
Carried		

The result was 8 votes for and 1 abstention, therefore the motion passed.

Councillor Knowles proposed that a risk assessment was kept on the impact of reduction of staff on services.

Kevin McDaniel confirmed that the Council ran both a corporate and directorate level risk register, with financial and staffing stability both being included on those registers.

The Vice-Chair proposed a motion that Cabinet approved the draft budget.

Kevin McDaniel clarified that the draft budget had already been approved by Cabinet on 1 December 2022.

Councillor Sharpe stated that it was appropriate for discussion to finish as two motions had been proposed and passed.

Councillor Del Campo asked if it was just a matter of Cabinet taking the minutes of this meeting into account when considering any recommendations to the budget.

Becky Oates, Democratic Services Officer, confirmed that it was just a matter of Cabinet taking the minutes into account.

The Chair thanked all for their contributions.

Resident Scrutiny Topic - Air Pollution

Carl Griffin, Environmental Protection Team Leader, introduced the report and stated that the Council currently had five Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) across the borough that were declared for exceedances of the annual mean for air quality objectives for nitrogen dioxide. Since these declarations, air quality across the borough had improved to the point where monitored concentrations of nitrogen dioxide were well below the objective level of 40 μ g/m³. PM10 was monitored at Frascati Way, Maidenhead, as this was a main arterial route through the borough and was a route that was expected to be in an area that was exposed to the highest PM10 in the borough. PM2.5, a finer scale particulate matter, was not currently monitored as there was no statutory requirement for the borough to do so under the local Air Quality Management regulations. However, PM2.5 levels could be calculated using PM10 levels.

Particulate matter had been modelled for the local plan and found no exceedances of national objectives across the borough. Mean concentrations for PM10 at Frascati Way decreased from 25 μ g/m³ in 2016 to 19 μ g/m³ in 2021, well below the national objective of 40 μ g/m³. For PM2.5, there had been an estimated decrease of around 17.5 μ g/m³ to 13.4 μ g/m³ since 2016, also well below the current legal limit of 20 μ g/m³.

The borough recognised that there was local concern regarding particulate matter concentrations, even though the borough was confident that the national objectives were being met across the borough. Cabinet had agreed to fund an expansion of its particulate matter monitoring in order to increase confidence that national objectives were being met. The borough intended to source and deploy low-cost particulate matter sensors across the five AQMAs for one year to identify areas of elevated particulate matter. It was then intended that the borough would source and deploy higher cost particulate matter monitoring units in two areas that merited this monitoring based on the low-cost sensor trials.

It was recommended that the Panel noted the report and agreed that the Council will continue the current monitoring regime and report back to members with 2022 results. The report also committed the borough to three additional monitoring stations to monitor PM10 and PM2.5 to provide data for the Council to base air quality monitoring and actions going forward. The Council were investigating the proposal to use low-cost sensor equipment to determine the current prevalence and potential sources of PM10 and PM2.5 within the five AQMAs and then install high-cost air quality monitoring units in two locations that merited it.

Councillor Carole Da Costa asked if, in addition to the proposed monitoring within the report, there would still be the mobile monitoring equipment that could be taken to an area to monitor what was going on at a particular time.

Carl Griffin confirmed that these mobile stations were the same as the low-cost equipment, but there was a cost of moving these as there was an installation cost which would be a couple of thousand pounds per month. The higher-cost stations were static stations on roadsides.

Councillor Knowles stated that the A308 was frequently congested which may result in lower levels of air quality. He also stated that particular issues of concern would be areas around schools and in Windsor with the changing of the guard. Councillor Knowles stated that it may be useful to have a residents' survey in which residents could suggest and justify where these monitoring stations were placed. This would serve as a useful engagement tool and use the knowledge of local residents.

Carl Griffin said that this was a good idea, and the borough was always open for suggestions as officers were not experts in every location in the borough. If people came forward with a reasoned opinion, the borough would be willing to listen and may implement this in where air quality monitoring stations were placed. This was easier to do with nitrogen dioxide tubes as once per year, there was the opportunity to change where these were placed.

Councillor Sharpe said that it should be welcomed that all these devices were being used or were proposed to be used but said that he believed that the scope of where these devices were being used should be widened, with areas such as Ascot High Street and Sunninghill High Street being of particular concern. Councillor Sharpe added that it would be beneficial to use more devices more widely across the borough as the cost was relatively low.

Councillor Story asked for confirmation that there were five areas of the borough where nitrogen dioxide levels were being monitored, and if these sites were being monitored with fixed or mobile units.

Carl Griffin confirmed that this was correct, with around 40-50 individual monitoring points. Five AQMAs had been declared within the borough. Carl Griffin stated that nitrogen dioxide could be measured using very cheap diffusion tubes which were fixed units that cost the borough around £6 per month per site and gave a monthly average of the concentrations in that area. Particulate matter was monitored in one fixed location, with a higher cost.

Councillor Story asked if normal air quality monitoring included things such as ozone or sulphur dioxide.

Carl Griffin stated that there were only a couple of places in the country that monitored sulphur dioxide as there were no areas that were failing. The borough had some national monitoring stations run by DEFRA which measured ozone, but this was more of an environmental issue rather than one caused by man-made activities.

Councillor Story asked for clarification on the number of monitoring units, as the report committed to three additional monitoring stations for PM10 and PM2.5, and also the installation of high-quality monitoring units in two locations that were merited.

Kevin McDaniel confirmed that the initial proposal was for three fixed, high-cost units. At a later meeting, it was suggested that more of the cheaper mobile units be used, and the number of high-cost units be reduced from three to two.

Councillor Del Campo stated that while the current measured concentrations of particulates was below national legal limits, they exceeded WHO guidelines for particulates, and asked if the borough should consider setting targets at a lower level.

Carl Griffin stated that it was always the goal to decrease levels to as low as possible. The main issue with WHO guidelines was that background levels without the addition of any kind of local sources already exceeded WHO guidelines, which meant that this wouldn't be able to be achieved unless there was a full-on national or international effort.

Councillor Del Campo asked if the borough was planning on implementing suggestions from the local air quality management technical guidance, such as the establishment of an air quality action plan steering group, as this guidance was not referred to in this report.

Carl Griffin confirmed that this would need to be looked at in further detail. The borough did have obligations for action plans based on when an AQMA was declared, but none had been declared for a number of years.

ACTION: Air pollution topic to return to the People Overview & Scrutiny Panel after the publication of the annual status report.

Councillor Tisi stated that from her understanding, there was a requirement to produce an air quality action plan where an AQMA had been established as part of the production of the air quality annual status report. Councillor Tisi asked for clarification with regards to whether these action plans needed to be created only in instances where a new AQMA had been declared, and if action plans needed to be created for existing AQMAs.

Carl Griffin stated that an air quality action plan needed to be created within 12 months of declaring a new air quality management area, which is when any steering groups would be set up. Carl Griffin confirmed that there was already an air quality action plan within the borough, but it was one which was intended to be developed after the annual status report.

Councillor Tisi asked to be directed to the report in order to share this with residents.

Carl Griffin confirmed that he would be able to circulate this.

ACTION: Carl Griffin to circulate the existing air quality action plan.

Councillor Tisi stated that she would appreciate discussion of real-life impact on residents and asked if a report could be received on the impact on health and children, particularly looking at respiratory disease level.

Carl Griffin stated that this was something that could be explored but would require joined up work with colleagues in Public Health England as data holders.

ACTION: Carl Griffin to explore the creation of a report on impact of air pollution on residents.

Councillor Baskerville asked if the steps being taken to address PM2.5 were adequate, and noted that even 'clean' forms of transportation created particulate matter from tyres and brakes. Councillor Baskerville asked if there were national figures on why there seemed to be an increase in children's respiratory issues.

Carl Griffin stated that the question regarding respiratory issues was better suited to health professionals. Carl Griffin agreed that electric vehicles were not a perfect solution, but they were better than petrol or diesel vehicles.

Councillor Sharpe asked what was needed in order to interpret the data that was being collected and assess the impact that this may have on people's lives, if the data indicated that pollution was at the upper limit.

Carl Griffin stated that data could be brought back to the Panel at a later date. In terms of reallife impacts, officers could only go on what was recommended in the national guidance.

Councillor Sharpe asked if there was a correlation between a high level of particulates and the impact on people's lives, and if this was hard to measure on an individual level.

Carl Griffin confirmed that it was very difficult to link on an individual level, but there were statistics available.

Kevin McDaniel stated that the questions that Councillor Tisi asked about the impact for the borough was an area that was worth the Panel's time.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the People Overview and Scrutiny Panel notes the report and agrees the Council will continue the current monitoring regime and report back to Members with 2022 results, but also commits to 3 additional monitoring stations for Monitoring PM10 and PM2.5 to provide data for the council to base air quality monitoring and actions moving forward. The Council are investigating the proposal to use lowcost sensor equipment to determine the current prevalence and potential sources of PM10 and PM2.5 within the 5 Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) and then install high-cost air quality monitoring units in 2 locations that merit it.

Work Programme

Becky Oates stated that the work programme had been included in the agenda papers, and asked Members if there was anything further that they wished to be brought to the Panel.

Councillor Baskerville asked if it was possible to receive a presentation on diabetes, given it was the centenary of Canadian scientists Frederick Banting and John McLeod winning the Nobel Prize in Medicine for discovering insulin and its therapeutic potential.

Kevin McDaniel echoed Councillor Baskerville's statement on the importance of diabetes, though it was not in the remit of the Council in this forum. This may be better suited to be brought to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Councillor Del Campo asked if the items that were on the work programme as suggested but not yet programmed would remain on the work programme after the end of the municipal year.

The Chair confirmed that these items would stay on the work programme.

Councillor Del Campo suggested that the item on asylum seekers be brought to the April meeting as this was an ongoing crisis.

Kevin McDaniel stated that he would need to check availability with officers but bringing this item to the April Panel would be a good idea. This could potentially be swapped for the Adult Social Care Reforms item.

Lin Ferguson provided an update on the domestic abuse task and finish group. The first meeting would go ahead at some time in February and asked for members who would be interested in forming this group.

Councillors Del Campo, Tisi and Carole Da Costa expressed interest in being part of this group.

The Chair thanked all for their time and closed the meeting.

The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 9.40 pm

CHAIR.....

DATE.....